
APPROVED 
TOWN OF LOUDON 

LOUDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
        

PLANNING BOARD MINUTES 
MARCH 18, 2010 

 
Meeting called to order at 7:00 p.m. by Chairman Tom Dow.   
 
Attendance: 
Chairman Tom Dow, Steve Jackson, Tom Moore, Vice Chairman Stan Prescott, Henry 
Huntington, Alternates Jeff Green and Bob Ordway, and Ex-Officio Steve Ives 
Bob Ordway was appointed as a voting member in the absence of Gary Tasker. 
Julie Robinson represented the Conservation Commission; Chief Jeff Burr and Firefighter 
John Reese represented the Fire Department. 
 
Chairman Dow congratulated Steve Jackson and Tom Moore on their re-election to the 
Board. 
 
Acceptance of Minutes: 
 
February 18, 2010 Regular Meeting – Bob Ordway made a motion to accept the 
minutes as prepared; seconded by Steve Ives.  All were in favor. 
 
Discussion: 
 
NHMS – Jerry Gappens was present to follow up on the Sno-Bowl that was held in 
February.  Mr. Gappens gave an overview of the Sno-Bowl.  He said from the Speedway 
point it went very well in spite of some weather problems affecting the snow.   
Mr. Gappens said that they have received a lot of positive feedback, no noise complaints, 
and positive phone calls from Loudon and Canterbury residents.  He said that Chief Fiske 
and his department had a good handle on the traffic.  Mr. Gappens said that NHMS 
would like to move forward to do this event again next year.  He stressed that this would 
be one event; they are not looking to do anything more than one time a year.   
 Tom Dow said that he felt everything set well with the neighbors after all that was 
said and done prior to the approval of the event.  Mr. Gappens said they would like to go 
ahead with the process for 2011. He spoke about the process that was followed this time 
with regard to regional impact and that he met with the Canterbury Board of Selectmen to 
clarify a few things.  The approximate timeframe would be late January/mid-February.  
He said they have sponsors interested and would like to be able to begin making 
arrangements.   
 Jeff Green said that he lives behind the track and the wind was blowing in his 
direction.  He said there was no noise from this event at his house compared to being able 
to hear the PA system during NASCAR events.  He said there were no traffic issues on 
back roads and overall it appeared that people were happy with the event and looking 
forward to next year.  Tom Dow said that there had been a lot of discussion and he felt 



this was not nearly as intrusive as some were concerned about.  Steve Ives stated that he 
went to the event on the first day and the traffic on Route 106 was normal.  He said he sat 
on Asby Road and could not hear anything from the event.  Stan Prescott said the sooner 
that NHMS gets the plans down, the sooner the process can get going.  Jeff Green said 
that the noise study has already been done and now they have some event history to go 
on.  Chairman Dow advised Mr. Gappens that an application would have to be submitted 
and the Board would have to determine regional impact.  He explained that the 
determination could be made in April if an application was submitted by the April 
deadline; the case would then be heard in May if determined to be of regional impact.   
 Bob Ordway said that he went to the event at peak times and also went to 
different areas in the vicinity of the track to see if there was any noise.  He said the 
loudspeaker was all he heard.  Mr. Gappens said that there has been some discussion of 
putting the event inside the oval.  He thought that might mitigate the loudspeaker sound.  
He said they are still in the discussion and planning stages.  Mr. Gappens stated that he 
appreciated the Board’s and the Town’s support in this first attempt and allowing them to 
try it.   
 
Conceptual Consultation: 
 
Faith Community Church – Rodney Phillips spoke on behalf of the church.  Bruce Dow 
was also present for the church.  Mr. Phillips handed out diagrams of the lot and pictures 
of the house that currently stands on the property across from the church on North 
Village Road.  He gave an overview of the history of the building and church, the 
church’s schedules, and attendance.  Mr. Phillips spoke about the many different groups 
that currently use the church and how church members have been doing some long range 
planning.  He talked of the various events that take place at the church and the space 
limitations.  Mr. Phillips said he will be meeting with the ZBA next week to see if there 
are any concerns that have to be addressed with regard to zoning.  He explained that the 
plan is to replace the three bay garage currently on the property with another structure 
that would include one half dozen Sunday school rooms.  He said that the current garage 
is 30’ x 40’ and they propose to replace it with a 40’ x 60’ structure.  Mr. Phillips said 
that they would use white clapboard siding and design the building to look like the 
existing house.  He said it would be a single story with an attic.  The plan would be to 
close the current driveway and open one directly across from the church entrance; the 
house entrance would be moved to the south side of the house.  Mr. Phillips said they 
want to design the building so that the property could be sold in the future and used as a 
garage again if desired.  He pointed out that the church is in the C/I district and the house 
is in the RR district.   
 There was discussion about the permitted uses in the two zones mentioned.  Mr. 
Phillips stated that there would be two bathrooms, noting that the church is designated as 
an emergency shelter and this would give them additional facilities for that as well.  
Discussion covered septic system, kitchen facility (small kitchenette), no additional 
signage, outside lighting, and safety concerns with crossing the road from the church to 
this building.   
 
Old Business: 



 
#10-02, Russell & Jennifer Stratton – Major Subdivision, Located on Batchelder Road 
in the RR District, Map 38, Lot 8-1  There were no abutters present.  Chairman Dow 
noted that this application was tabled from the February 18th meeting.  Mark Sargent of 
Richard D Bartlett & Associates represented the applicant.  Mr. Stratton was present. 
 Mr. Sargent gave an overview of the 14.64 acre parcel and its location.  He 
explained that Mr. Stratton has a home on one end of the parcel.  The State subdivision 
approval was handed in for the record.  Mr. Sargent stated that there are two waiver 
requests; one is for the scale being 1” = 60’ and the other is for the Site Specific Soil 
Map.  He explained that test pits were done and the septic was approved.  He noted that 
the soils are consistent with the Merrimack County soils map.   
 Tom Moore made a motion to accept the application as complete and move 
directly to a public hearing; seconded by Henry Huntington.  All were in favor.   
 Tom Dow noted that there is a PSNH easement on this parcel.  He asked if they 
had been in touch with PSNH about the location of a house/structure/driveway.  Mr. 
Sargent said that they have talked with PSNH and they cannot locate a structure in the 
right-of-way. He said the right-of-way can be crossed perpendicularly.  He pointed out 
the proposed location for a house and that they have ample room to locate a driveway 
outside the easement.  Jeff Green pointed out that a special exception would be needed 
for a driveway on the middle lot if they plan to stay outside the easement as that would 
put it in the side setback.  Tom Dow asked about steep slopes.  Mr. Sargent said the 
slopes are not counted toward the buildable area nor is the easement.  Mr. Dow said that 
he thought there was a recreational trail system on Map 38, Lot 8-1.  He said they prefer 
to maintain continuity of trails.  Mr. Stratton said that he spoke with the snowmobile 
association and he is alright with the trail being there.  He said it was mentioned that the 
trail might be offset with the power lines.  Mr. Dow asked if Mr. Stratton was agreeable 
to a note being placed on the plan about the recreational trail on this lot.  Mr. Stratton said 
he was.   
 Julie Robinson asked if an owner can do anything in the PSNH easement if PSNH 
has the right to maintain it. Mr. Sargent explained that it can be used but nothing can be 
built within the easement.  Jeff Green asked if there was any note on the plan about that 
restriction.  Mr. Sargent said it would be conveyed in the deed that there is a PSNH 
easement.  Stan Prescott asked about a section on the plan that is labeled ‘poorly drained 
soils’.  Mr. Sargent explained that the soils fall within the county soils map which is what 
was used when delineating the parcel.  Mr. Prescott asked about the owner’s address.  
Mr. Sargent will correct this as Mr. Stratton is now living in Loudon.  Mr. Prescott asked 
about a label that read ‘to ledge’.  Mr. Sargent will correct this to be ‘no ledge’.   
 Tom Dow asked if the driveway locations are shown.  Mr. Sargent said only the 
driveway for the existing house is shown at this time.  He said the others will be approved 
by the road agent.   
 Chairman Dow read a waiver request for Section 12.5.4.  Tom Moore made a 
motion to approve the request; seconded by Stan Prescott.  All were in favor.   
 Chairman Dow read a waiver request for Section 12.5.12.  Henry Huntington 
moved to approve the waiver; seconded by Steve Jackson.  All were in favor.   
 Hearing no further questions from the public, Chairman Dow closed the hearing 
to the public and opened it to the Board only. 



 Stan Prescott asked about the wetland scientist stamp.  Mr. Sargent said he will 
have that on the final set of plans.  Stan Prescott made a motion to approve the 
application subject to the following:  1) wetland scientist stamp; 2) owner address 
changed; 3) note of no building under power lines; 4) if driveway in setback it needs 
special exception; 5) note of recreational trail; delineate location of trail, down 
power lines to corner of Lot 38-1.  Seconded by Henry Huntington.  All were in 
favor. 
 
New Business: 
 
#10-03, Michael Milligan – Site Development, Wales Bridge Road, in the C/I District, 
Map 20, Lot 58.  Tim Bernier of T F Bernier, Inc. represented the applicant.  Abutters 
present were Matt Smith of the Loudon Garage and Elaine Flick and her son Brian.  Mr. 
Milligan and the owner of the proposed business, Jay Canney, were also present.   
 Mr. Bernier gave an overview of the lot and location, noting that the access is off 
Wales Bridge Road.  He explained that there is a power line that feeds Dunkin Donuts 
crossing the property but no easement was ever created.  Mr. Bernier pointed out a 
protective well radius for Dunkin Donuts on the property line.  He explained that this lot 
would be used for used auto sales and light repair.  The building would be 1925 sf (1400 
sf for maintenance and 525 sf for office) and would be slab on grade.  Seventeen parking 
spaces will be provided per the regulations, with paved access.  Mr. Bernier stated that 
there would be 9825 sf of display space, enough for sixty to seventy cars.  A landscape 
plan was submitted.  Mr. Bernier noted that they discovered more landscaping at the 
Dunkin Donuts boundary once the snow melted so he has added more to this site to keep 
it level development.  He explained the State restriction on tree cutting and that they got 
an agreement that any trees 4” or greater have to stay. 
 Mr. Bernier stated that the applicant went to the ZBA for setback relief due to the 
odd shape of the lot.  The front setback was reduced from 100’ to 60’; side setback was 
reduced from 100’ (corner lot) to 30’; and the residential buffer was reduced from 60’ to 
30’.  Mr. Bernier noted that there is a natural vegetative buffer at the residential 
boundary.  He explained that the ZBA set the operating hours as 8 a.m. to 7 p.m. and that 
repairs are limited to the vehicles for sale or that have been sold at this facility.  He said 
this is not a maintenance garage that is open to the public.   
 Mr. Bernier reviewed the three waiver requests that have been submitted with the 
application.  Site Specific Soils – all one soil type, well drained sand, reviewed by 
wetland scientist.  Stormwater Management Plan – only 15% impervious, all drains away 
from residential area and Dunkin Donuts; created low area/landscape island; soil very 
well drained.  Erosion/Lighting/Drainage/Landscaping/Utility – incorporated all into the 
site plan rather than separate sheets. 
 Mr. Bernier pointed out locations for onside septic and well.  He said there will be 
three pole lights for safety and security.  The lights are the same as those used at Dunkin 
Donuts.  He gave an overview of the proposed landscaping, noting that some of Dunkin 
Donuts’ landscaping is on this property.  Mr. Bernier noted that sign information was 
submitted with the application.  He pointed out that the sign would be located at the 
southeast corner of the parcel, with landscaping.  He noted that an evergreen hedge would 



be planted along the front of the building and smaller plantings would be along the other 
sides.   
 Matt Smith said that he is in favor of the auto sales portion of the plan but is 
opposed to the inspection and repair part.  He read from a prepared statement and 
submitted it for the file.  Mr. Smith also submitted a list of other repair shops in Loudon 
and papers showing the population of the town.   
 Elaine Flick asked if there would be additional runoff from this property that 
would affect a culvert that currently runs onto her property and causes washouts.  Mr. 
Bernier stated that there will be 12,000 sf of impervious area and the runoff would be 
minimal.  He showed a proposed detention area at the corner and also noted that some of 
the site pitches to the island in the display area.  He said the layout is capturing what used 
to come through the lot as well as any new runoff.  Steve Jackson noted that there should 
not be any additional drainage to the culvert as that is designed to capture water from 
Route 106 and Village Road.  Stan Prescott asked if a drainage study was done.  Mr. 
Bernier said a study was not done because the lot is so small and due to the natural 
drainage pattern.   
 Tom Moore noted that the pavement stops halfway through the lot.  He said dust 
could be a concern.  Tim Bernier pointed out that it was a display area and customers 
would be driving quite slowly.  The cost of paving was a factor in leaving that area 
gravel.  Mr. Milligan pointed out that they do not want dusty material in the area with 
clean cars.  He said a hard packed material would be used.   
 Stan Prescott asked about the kind of soil on the lot.  He asked if they would be 
opposed to putting some sumps on the property.  Mr. Bernier said that could be an issue 
when the ground is frozen.  Discussion continued about drainage options and Mr. 
Milligan said he would be in agreement with open bottom catch basins to avoid runoff 
concerns.  Steve Jackson asked about the construction of the building.  Mr. Milligan said 
it would have vinyl siding and architectural asphalt shingles. 
 Jay Canney said there would be no wrecker service.  He said State inspections 
would be done for the cars sold on the lot.  He talked of customers wanting the assurance 
that they can come back if problems.  He said he would do small jobs onsite but would 
send bigger jobs out to other shops.   
 Tom Dow stated that the Board would want to see the building fit in aesthetically.  
Mr. Milligan said that the siding would be a bluish gray.  Mr. Dow read a letter from the 
fire department which will be part of the file.  Mr. Milligan said that he is pricing out an 
alarm system.  Firefighter Reese said that based on codes for auto repair all that is 
required is a fire alarm system.  He said if the business was expanded they would have to 
look at a sprinkler system. 
 Chairman Dow said that he could understand Mr. Smith’s concern of competition.  
He said it would be nice to extend repairs to him and maintain good relations.  Mr. 
Milligan noted that Mr. Canney would not be doing any towing or larger jobs but does 
need to be able to do stickers for those cars being sold on the lot.  There was discussion 
of the conversation held at the ZBA hearing with regard to Mr. Canney’s intent. Steve 
Jackson pointed out that this is an allowed use and he would question if the Board can 
limit the use, particularly where the ZBA gave its approval.  There was brief discussion 
about the purpose of this application and the Board’s role.  Stan Prescott said he 



understood what the ZBA did in its decision and suggested that the different parties trust 
in that decision, keep an open mind, and each do as they should.   
 Elaine Flick asked if there would be junk vehicles on the property.  Mr. Canney 
said that he does not operate a body shop so there would not be any crashed/damaged 
vehicles on the lot.  He said he has someone who does that work for him elsewhere.   
 Stan Prescott asked about the height of the building.  Mr. Milligan said it is 28’ to 
peak, with 16’ ceilings.  The building would be 35’ x 55’.  Tom Dow noted that there 
could be more landscaping along Route 106.  Mr. Canney showed pictures of before and 
after site work was done.  There was discussion of landscaping options and what Dunkin 
Donuts did on their property.  Mr. Bernier suggested that they could do some small 
islands on the inside of the fence with low plantings.  Henry Huntington suggested that 
they soften the building with something small. 
 There was further discussion of the drainage on and from this property.  Mr. 
Bernier explained the natural drainage flow and how it pitches into the center of the 
display area.  Mr. Milligan said he would be agreeable to adding more drainage if there 
proved to be any problems in the future.  Stan Prescott suggested that a drainage area be 
located by the driveway to collect the building runoff.   
 Steve Jackson reminded Mr. Milligan of the driveway regulations with regard to 
pitching away from the road.  Tom Dow reviewed comments to include:  add more 
landscaping, basins, tree by the building, and the possibility of recycled asphalt in display 
area.  Mr. Bernier asked if it had to be recycled pavement or if the Board would be open 
to other materials if they found something suitable.  Mr. Milligan asked if hard pack was 
suitable.  Tom Dow said they should look at the options.   
 Stan Prescott advised Mr. Bernier to identify the plantings.  Chairman Dow read a 
letter from the State DOT, as an abutter.  Stan Prescott asked about silt fencing.  Mr. 
Bernier will review this with the contractor and update the plan.   
 Chairman Dow reviewed the waiver requests.  The waiver that includes the 
landscape plan to be on the site plan will have to be amended since a separate landscape 
plan has been submitted at this meeting.  Jay Canney asked if the application could be 
approved at this meeting with the conditions discussed.  The chairman explained the 
process of reviewing final plans and that he would prefer that the Board be involved in 
that final review.   
 Elaine Flick asked what would be done for landscaping on the Wales Bridge side 
of the property. Mr. Bernier said that the area has been cleaned up since the plan was 
done and he will look at it again.  Mr. Milligan noted that there is a tree, the State fence, 
and a pole/wire that they have to work around. 
 Tom Moore made a motion to continue this application to April 15, 2010 at 
7:00 p.m. at the Community Building; seconded by Henry Huntington.  All were in 
favor.  There will be no further notification. 
 
Board Discussion: 
 
Parking permit review – Chairman Dow explained that it has been brought to the 
Planning Office’s attention that some permit holders have overnight campers.  He 
suggested that the Board could have permit holders come in and tell the Board if their 
parking plan has changed.  He read from 503.3 of the Zoning Ordinance which allows 



campers on the resident’s property and he noted that parking permits prohibit overnight 
parking.  The chairman offered suggestions on how best to handle this type of situation.  
Jeff Burr said that he has had some people bring it up to him and that some lots have 
increased their areas.  He said it needs to be the same for all who hold parking permits.  
The chief suggested that the permit holders be required to submit updated plans every 
five years, regardless if there have been any changes.  He said that would allow the Board 
and the fire department to be sure the roadways are suitable and accessible.  There was 
discussion of how best to regulate overnight camping at the permitted daytime parking 
lots.  Enforcement was a major concern.  This will be discussed further at upcoming 
meetings. 
 
Fire/Safety impact fees – Chief Burr encouraged the Board to consider a new impact fee 
to help offset increased demand for services.  There was discussion of possible impact 
should there be further expansion at the track and the existing impact of the elderly 
housing.  There was discussion of what impact fees can be used for. 
 
Traffic count – CNHRPC has asked for the town’s input on where to locate counters this 
year.  The Board reviewed the list of locations that the Selectboard and road agent 
submitted.  It was agreed to add Pleasant Street, east of Route 129. 
 
Election of Officers - Henry Huntington nominated Tom Dow as Chairman; seconded by 
Steve Ives.  Mr. Dow accepted the nomination.  All were in favor. 
Tom Moore nominated Stan Prescott as Vice Chairman; seconded by Steve Jackson.  Mr. 
Prescott accepted.  All were in favor. 
 
Appointment of Alternates - Chairman Dow recommended that Bob Ordway and Jeff 
Green be appointed to continue as the Board’s alternate members.  Both accepted.  All 
were in favor.  Mr. Ordway and Mr. Green will see the town clerk to be sworn in. 
 
Upcoming vacancy – Chairman Dow said that Gary Tasker will be moving out of town in 
the near future and will be resigning his position on the Board.  He informed the 
members that Bob Cole is interested in joining the Board and could fill Mr. Tasker’s 
position until the next election.  Mr. Cole stated that Mr. Ordway and Mr. Green had 
informed him that they were not interested in the full position.  Mr. Green explained that 
he has to often step down as a surveyor for clients so prefers the alternate position.  The 
Board will address the matter once Mr. Tasker’s written resignation is received.   
 
Report of the ZBA: 
  
Donna reported that there is an application for ESMI soil application on the Milligan 
commercial property and an application for a special exception for automotive services at 
the Bollinger commercial building on Staniels Road before the ZBA this month.   
 
Report of the Board of Permit: 
 



Stan Prescott reported that the Board of Permit is scheduled for March 30th due to 
scheduling conflicts earlier in the month. 
 
Adjournment:  A motion to adjourn at 10:00 p.m. was made by Tom Moore; seconded 
by Steve Jackson.  All were in favor.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Donna White 
Administrative Assistant 
 


